Report to the ad hoc committee of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine

Evidence to Advance Reform in the Global Security and Justice Sectors: A Workshop-based Consensus Study Series

Core knowledge and skills needed for police to promote the rule of law and protect the population

By

Lorraine Mazerolle University of Queensland

May 2021; updated June 2021

Suggested Citation:

Mazerolle, L. (2021). Core knowledge and skills needed for police to promote the rule of law and protect the population. Paper prepared for the Committee on the Evidence to Advance Reform in the Global Security and Justice Sectors, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. https://www.nationalacademies.org/our-work/evidence-toadvance-reform-in-the-global-security-and-justice-sectors.

Table of Contents

1.0 INTRODUCTION	3
2.0 KNOWLEDGE ABOUT THE LAW OF CRIME/PROBLEM CONCENTRATION	4
2.1 People	5
2.2 Places	6
2.3 Targets/Victims	7
2.4 Crime Concentration Data Matters	8
3.0 CONCEPTUALIZING POLICE RESPONSES TO PROBLEMS	9
4.0 A FOCUS ON HIGH RISK PEOPLE/GROUPS	10
4.1 High Risk People/Groups Curriculum Scope	11
4.2 Evidence on Training Police to Respond to High Risk People/Groups	13
4.3 Data to Assess Effectiveness in Police Responding to High Risk People/Groups	14
5.0 A FOCUS ON CRIME-PRONE PLACES	15
5.1 High Risk Places Curriculum Scope	15
5.2 Evidence on Training Police in Responding to High Risk Places	17
5.3 Data to Assess Effectiveness in Police Responding to High Risk Places	18
6.0 A FOCUS ON PROTECTING VICTIMS	19
6.1 Protecting Victims Curriculum Scope	19
6.2 Evidence on Training Police to Protect High Risk Victims	21
6.3 Data to Assess Effectiveness in Police Protecting Vulnerable People	21
7.0 CONCLUDING REMARKS	22
8.0 REFERENCES	24

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report is situated within the broader NAS goal to provide evidence in the areas of policing practices and capacities to inform the State Department's capacity-building activities in an international context. My report is aimed at strengthening the effectiveness of local, incountry law enforcement agencies by providing an overview of what knowledge and skills need to be included in police education and training at different levels of the organization to reduce crime and uphold the rule of law. Knowing the content of other commissioned reports to inform this specific NAS review, my report does not cover anything about (1) organizational policies, structures, or practices that enable a police service to promote the rule of law and protect the population, (2) the training methodology best employed within police academies to promote the rule of law and protect the population in the international context, (3) policies and practices for police use of force, (4) policing practices that build community trust and legitimacy, or (5) the relationship between police agencies and forensics labs.

As commissioned, I provide evidence on what should (as well as some thoughts as to what should not) be included in police education and training curricula to create the core knowledge and skills needed to promote the rule of law and effectively protect the population in the international context. Given that all jurisdictions have their own laws and regulations that dictate the local powers of law enforcement officers, I do not cover the scope of the law curriculum for police officer training. Rather, I offer commentary on what should be taught within police education and training curriculums to increase the effectiveness of a frontline officer's efforts to promote the rule of law as it might apply to their organization's ability to protect the population. I also review what is known about the effectiveness of training programs that have been evaluated using robust methods. I identify strengths and limitations of data available to inform effective policing practices and what data should be collected and reported to ensure best practice in the future.

The National Research Council report edited by Pellegrino and Hilton (2012) on Education for Life and Work views "21st century skills as knowledge that can be transferred or applied in new situations" (2012, p. 2). They go onto say that "transferable knowledge includes content knowledge in a domain and knowledge of how, why and when to apply this knowledge to answer questions and solve problems ... [and that] ... this transferrable knowledge is what is defined as skills" (National Research Council, 2012, p. 2). This conceptualization of knowledge and skills is used throughout this report. For ease of reading, I use the shorthand term "education" to refer to the types of **knowledge** that police need better understand their jobs. I use the term "training" when I am referring to the types of **skills** that need to be learned and developed by police to do their jobs well.

My paper draws primarily from the Global Policing Database (GPD) (https://gpd.uq.edu.au), focusing on systematic reviews and evaluation evidence on police effectiveness and training programs that have been evaluated to a high level of scientific quality. The GPD is a web-based exhaustive repository of intervention research relating to police and policing practices, including training programs, from 87 countries around the world. The majority (n = 1822; 52.3%) of all GPD eligible studies (quasi, RCT and systematic reviews) originate from the United States and the top 20 countries see a high prevalence of European work, namely from the United Kingdom (n = 241; 6.9%). Australia also has a high contribution to GPD with 190 (5.4%) of the studies in the GPD while India (n = 42; 1.2%) is the only one of non-American, European or Oceanic status in the top 10. Countries from Africa, Asia, South America and the Middle East appear in the top 20, although are under-represented with less than 1% of the

publications per country. The majority of the studies in the GPD (N = 3,586) are quasiexperimental designs (82%), with randomized controlled trials (RCTs) comprising 12 percent (N = 431) of all documents systematically processed to date according to the GPD protocol. Six percent of the studies in the GPD are systematic reviews with or without meta-analysis, presenting a high quality of synthesised material. The GPD excludes single group designs with pre- and post-intervention measures as these designs are highly subject to bias and threats to internal validity. I also draw from the GPD and a specific rapid review undertaken by Bennett (2020) using the GPD to assess the impact of police training on police knowledge and skills. Bennett's (2020) review found 105 eligible training evaluation studies in the GPD, comprising 29 RCTs, two systematic reviews and/or meta-analyses, and 74 robust quasiexperiments.

I begin the report by arguing that the fundamental basis for all education of police, at all levels, should be about building knowledge about the "power few" or the "non-linear skewness" in distributions of crime (Sherman, 2007), also known as the law of crime and crime problem concentration (Weisburd, 2015). I describe how concentrations of resources to better identify and respond to those people, places and victims who generate most problems or are most at risk serves as a foundation for police learning. I then offer several wellestablished frameworks for categorizing different approaches to policing suggesting that police training, especially at leadership levels, needs to consider resource allocations to better balance police responses towards preventive and partnership oriented approaches to build community safety rather than concentrating resources on police-only responses that are reactive and lack focus on the "power few." The report then examines the knowledge and skills that need to be developed so that police better respond to high risk people, places and victims. I identify the basic curriculum needs in recruit, middle management and/or leadership training that seeks to increase the effectiveness of frontline policing and the data needed to implement best practice in policing. I conclude with some summary comments about the future of police education and training programs that build the core knowledge and skills to promote the rule of law and safeguard populations in the international context.

2.0 KNOWLEDGE ABOUT THE LAW OF CRIME/PROBLEM CONCENTRATION

The number one thing that police need to learn and understand at all levels (recruit, in service, middle management and leadership) is the nature of how crime is concentrated. Described by Sherman (2007) as the "power few" and by Weisburd (2015) as the law of crime concentration, research has shown for at least five decades that crime across the world is highly concentrated in certain places (micro geographic, hotspots, communities, temporal), with certain high risk offenders (people) and that some people are more likely than others to be victims. John Eck and his colleagues gathered together studies from 1970 to 2015 that provided quantitative data on crime distributions to produce a series of systematic reviews demonstrating the consistent and clear concentrations of crime in places (Lee et al., 2017), offending (Martinez et al., 2017) and for some victims (O et al., 2017).

As these reviews have shown, crime is distributed in very similar patterns of cumulative concentration regardless of whether the unit of analysis focuses on places, offenders or victims. In the following sections, I concentrate on how this law of crime concentration needs to be the foundation for all police education curricula.

2.1 People

Police intuitively understand that a small number of offenders generate most of their crime problems. Yet most of the learning that police get about the concentration of people as offenders comes from on-the-job talk and a basic assumption that it is a general fact about criminal life that police absorb by osmosis. To my knowledge, most current police education spends very little time (if any at all) learning about the law of crime concentration despite it being an exceptionally well-researched area of criminology. In this section, I offer some very basic topic areas that should form part of all recruit education and be reiterated at each level of promotion examination.

First, research consistently shows that most individuals are law-abiding citizens who do not come in contact with the criminal justice system and that it is just a small proportion of people who commit a large proportion of crime (Blumstein et al., 1986; DeLisi, 2005; Hindelang et al., 1981; West & Farrington, 1977; Wolfgang et al., 1972). Put another way, a large proportion of crime is committed by chronic offenders who engage in a wide range of offending behavior (Kennedy, 1997). With police spending a large part of their time on those relatively small numbers of people who are committing crimes, it is often easy for police to forget that most people are indeed law abiding and never have much contact with police. Police education, therefore, needs to present research that will resonate with police on the concentration of crime among a few offenders, yet not forget to emphasize the law-abiding nature of most people. This focus on both the offender few and the law-abiding many should also be integrated into the curriculum on police legitimacy and procedural justice training (see this NAS report chapter on Police Legitimacy).

Second, David Farrington's work on the concentration of offending in families should be presented as a probabilistic (highly likely) scenario rather than a deterministic outcome of being in (or from) a complex family environment. Farrington et al. (2001), for example, investigated the inter-generational relationship of offending across three generations of relatives using data from The Pittsburgh Youth Study. They found that "if one relative had been arrested, there was a high likelihood that another relative had also been arrested" (Farrington et al., 2001, p. 579), that there was "an average of five arrested persons per family" (Farrington et al., 2001, p. 592) and that "arrests of the father predicted a boy's delinquency independently of all other arrested relatives" (Farrington et al., 2001, p. 579). To increase the potential of police to pivot their activities to more proactive than reactive work (see Section 3, this report), the emphasis here in police training curricula should not be on promulgating the assumption of deviant children coming from offending fathers, but rather on using this type of information to cultivate early intervention opportunities (such as diversion, see Section 4.2) for these at risk young people.

Third, police education programs need to include an explication of the Age–Crime Curve. Without getting too caught up in the finer details of the debate between career criminals and criminal careers, the basic facts need to be clearly understood by police: first, that there is a "nonlinear relationship between age and crime" (Farrington, 1986, p. 236) and that crime rates consistently increase from the minimum age of criminal responsibility (which is different in different countries) to reach a peak in the teenage years. Farrington (1986) and many others have consistently argued that "the most plausible theory is that the age-crime curve reflects decreasing parental controls, a peaking of peer influence in the teenage years, and then increasing family and community controls with age" (Farrington, 1986, p. 236).

Fourth, Terri Moffitt's (2003, 2015) presentation of the differences between adolescent limited and life-course persistent offenders needs to be understood by police in recruit education and likely be the topic of promotion exams for those aspiring to middle management roles. The most critical message is that police need to work in partnership with a range of other service providers (see Section 4) to divert low-level offending by young people away from being "snared" in the criminal justice system. Moffitt (2015) explains that the majority of young offenders "age-out" of offending but there are a few young offenders that are persistent/chronic offenders that engage in criminal behavior throughout the life course. Moffitt (2015) argues that life-course persistent offenders' antisocial behavior tends to emerge in childhood, whereas offenders that age out of crime (adolescent-limited offenders) exhibit antisocial behavior around the age of 14 or 15 alongside puberty. She shows that "life-course persistent antisocial behaviour emerges from early neurodevelopmental and family adversity risk factors, but adolescence-limited delinquency does not" (Moffitt, 2015, p.593) and that "life-course persistent antisocial development is almost exclusively male, whereas most female antisocial behaviour is of the adolescence-limited type" (Moffitt, 2015, p.593).

Drawing from this body of work, police need training and the development of skills to be able to work with government partners in providing integrated services to different types of at-risk people. Police training needs to emphasize the skills that help police to forge partnerships that collectively address the problems of early onset and potentially life-course persistent offending: proactive and partnership-based approaches need to be part of the skills development, teaching police the skills in working cooperatively with other service provider and frontline education and health workers to develop wrap-around services for these at-risk young people (see Sections 4 and 5 below).

2.2 Places

In 1989, Lawrence Sherman, Patrick Gartin, and Michael Buerger coined the term criminology of place when they discovered that 3 percent of micro places-that they called "hotspots"—produced 50 percent of all calls for service to police. David Weisburd, in his American Society of Criminology Sutherland Award address, highlighted that "the single most important empirical observation in the criminology of place is that crime concentrates at very small units of geography" (Weisburd, 2015: 135) and that this discovery is the foundation for crime prevention programs at places, including hotspots policing (Weisburd, 2015). Lee and his colleagues (2017), reporting on their systematic review, conclude that "there is no doubt that crime is concentrated at a small number of places regardless of how crime is measured, the geographic unit of analysis used, or type of crime" (Lee et al., 2017, p. 11). Their research is highly supportive of Sherman's (2007) "power few" argument and their findings support Weisburd's (2015) law of crime concentration in places. Concentration of crime in place should be part of police education, including modules that focus on resource allocation decisions when it is known that at least 20 percent of places generate about 50 percent of all problems and about 10 percent of places generate about 80 percent of all problems (Lee et al., 2017). It is also the case that as the size of the place unit declines (that is from community to street block to address to household) crime becomes even more concentrated. Lee and his colleagues (2017) explain that the worst 5 percent of street segments account for around 42 percent of the crimes, whereas the worst 5 percent of neighborhoods account for only around 20 percent of crimes.

This concentration of crime in places is fundamental knowledge that should be central in police education curricula. Place theories of crime will help police to better understand why

crime events occur at specific locations: why burglaries occur in one type of place and one type of street, but not another; why drug dealing is likely in one type of apartment block, but not another; why gang activity might be prevalent in one particular public park, but not another. John Eck and his colleagues (2005) explain that "different types of crime have different spatial relationships, dependencies, structures, and distributions, which are the result of different social and spatial processes over an area" (2005, p.67). Building crime analysis skills in policing agencies will better help target police resources to the places and people that are generating most of the problems.

The flip side of the law of crime concentration is that there are large numbers of streets, homes, apartment blocks and parks (up to 95%) in even the worst communities that are relatively crime free. Police need to understand as much about these crime-free areas of some of the most social disadvantaged neighborhoods to be equipped with the knowledge and skills necessary to implement strategies that work to build what is known as "collective efficacy" (Sampson et al., 1997). Evidence is now emerging that there is a clear role for police in working to strengthen microgeographic communities, increasing the willingness of residents to take action and develop collaborative efforts to solve local problems (Weisburd et al., 2020). Section 5 offers some evidence-based initiatives that form the basis of training in the skills needed to work with citizens to solve place-based problems.

The law of crime concentration also applies to the temporal distribution of crime in highcrime places. Ratcliffe (2002) shows that opportunity to commit crime is not evenly distributed spatially or temporally. From a policing resourcing perspective, allocating police to the right places (hotspots) at the right times (hot times) is fundamental good leadership practice that should be part of middle and upper level management education and training. Towers et al.'s (2018) work, looking at the temporal relationship of crime incidents to weather, holidays, school vacations, day-of-week, and paydays, examined 5.7 million reported incidents of crime that occurred in the City of Chicago between 2001 to 2014. They found that robberies, aggravated assaults, batteries, and criminal damage were significantly more prevalent on Saturdays and that assaults and batteries also went down significantly on many holidays (but not New Year's Eve) (Towers et al., 2018). Perhaps most importantly, they found that inclusion of temperature significantly improved the predictive power of the models for aggravated assaults, batteries, and criminal damage but only moderately helped to explain robberies, burglaries, and theft and was not helpful in explaining variations in motor vehicle theft, bogus checks, and "other" crime (including animal/elder/child abuse or neglect, harassment, parole violations, and criminal trespass).

2.3 Targets/Victims

Revictimization (or repeat victimization), where a small percentage of the population suffer large percentages of all criminal victimisation, is well understood in the criminological literature (Farrell, 1995). There are good reasons why police need to think very carefully about reducing repeat victimization. For example, Townsley and his colleagues (2000) show that by preventing repeat incidents of house breaks, the overall burglary rate could be reduced by at least 25 per cent. Section 6 of this report examines the types of policing interventions that should be part of police training curricula for reducing repeat victimization. But to better understand the fundamentals behind repeat victimization, police training should incorporate a module that explains Routine Activity Theory. First articulated by Cohen and Felson (1979), the micro level interpretation of the theory argues that crime emerges when a likely offender converges with a suitable crime target in the absence of a capable guardian. As a theory that helpfully explains the likelihood of crime events occurring, Routine Activity Theory is perhaps one of just a handful of criminological theories that should be part of the education curriculum at recruit level.

2.4 Crime Concentration Data Matters

Repeat victimization policing (see Section 6) along with hotspots policing, problem-oriented policing, and intelligence-led policing (see Section 5) are all highly data-driven strategies that rely on the work of crime analysts to reduce crime by focusing resources on high crime places, high-risk offenders, and repeat victims (see Matthies & Chiu, 2014). Training police and civilian crime analysts needs to be a fundamental part of police training so that crime analysts are skilled implement data quality controls and use their own police administrative data—augmented with routine feeds of data such as weather, transportation, survey and land use data—so that they can assemble and analyze quality crime data. Indeed, as data linkage becomes more routine, big data more available and the demand for data scientists becomes acute, it is incumbent upon police to develop recruitment and training programs that will position police in the future to harness the power of their own data resources. The following provides a very brief and non-exhaustive summary of the types of data needed for police agencies and crime analysts to have the necessary information to make sound resource allocation decisions based on the law of crime concentration.

Police administrative data includes all information recorded by police agencies on their administrative systems. Police data are the most widely sourced administrative data used to produce crime statistics and includes calls for service, street checks, charges, arrests, property recovered, warrants, crime incidents and offences that have been reported to, detected and recorded by police (see MacDonald, 2002). It is well known, however, that police data have a number of limitations: first, not all crime comes to the attention of police, second, data can be incomplete both with missing records and missing fields, and third, they often contain errors (see Hand, 2018). Having the skills to be able to identify the errors, clean the data and link these data to health, education, main roads, transportation, and housing, to mention a few, will provide well-trained analysts with insights about crime concentrations.

Other administrative data includes all other agency data (such as education, health, housing, public amenities, land parcel, transportation) that can be used by police to either link their own administrative data or create data layers (such as land parcel use of bars and nightclubs, budget motels, schools, banks, movie theatres, convenience stores, gasoline stations) to better understand crime problems. Police agencies should have location identifiers in their records management systems as a foundation part of the crime analyst function and errors and missingness in these other administrative data sources need to be well understood and handled by a skilled analyst.

Self-report measures of criminal behavior include interviews, surveys and questionnaires of people to ask them about undetected criminal behavior. Even with self-reporting of crime, Thornberry and Krohn (2003) demonstrate that there is still a good deal of underreporting. Police agencies or other entities should commission self-report surveys of offending on a routine basis and then police should be trained to use these data to make sound resource allocation decisions.

Household and Victim surveys involve collecting data from households to ascertain prevalence of victimization at a single point in time, perceptions of police and other views of people in the community about crime issues that affect their lives. Shortcomings with household surveys are that people may be unable to recall dates and details about incidents accurately; they may be reluctant to discuss victimization, particularly domestic violence or sexual assault; and some people may not consider some types of victimization crime or may not consider themselves victims. As with self-report surveys, analysts should routinely collect and use victim surveys to better allocate resources and respond to crime problems and high-risk victims.

3.0 CONCEPTUALIZING POLICE RESPONSES TO PROBLEMS

One of the big challenges facing police leaders is making decisions about allocating scarce resources in an increasingly complex world. From large police organizations to small police agencies, decisions have to be made both at the strategic and tactical level around police service delivery that both achieves public safety and promotes the rule of law (see this NAS report and the chapter on Organizational Policies). Yet it is a rare policing agency that can articulate how much of their human resources are oriented to reactive or proactive policing. Or perhaps how much of their activities are dedicated to partnership (versus police working alone) or focused (versus unfocused) policing. This section does not attempt to specify what proportion of time, activities or resources should be allocated to different types of policing orientations. To my knowledge, no study has ever attempted to offer an ideal type balance of activities and resources. As such, this section argues that police leaders need education to develop business approaches to resource allocations that start with clear conceptualization of different types of approaches in policing. They need to be knowledgeable, receptive and reflective about what approaches they are using (and why), and then have the business acumen to develop highly targeted recruitment and training programs. Strategically, police leaders need to implement curricula throughout their agencies to develop middle manager skills to use knowledge of crime concentration and what works in policing to better shape their resource allocation decisions. The goal is to have agency leaders consciously, not accidentally, balance their resources across different types of proactive/reactive, focused/unfocused policing activities.

The first area of conceptualization is for police leaders to critically differentiate between their agency's reliance on proactive and reactive policing in handling high-risk people, places and target/victims. Weisburd and Majmundar (2018) in the wide-ranging NAS Report on Proactive Policing differentiate proactive from reactive policing in the following way:

Proactive policing includes all policing strategies that have as one of their goals the prevention or reduction of crime and disorder and that are not reactive in terms of focusing primarily on uncovering ongoing crime or on investigating or responding to crimes once they have occurred. Specifically, the elements of proactivity include an emphasis on prevention, mobilizing resources based on police initiative, and targeting the broader underlying forces at work that may be driving crime and disorder. This contrasts with the <u>standard model of policing</u>, which involves an emphasis on reacting to particular crime events after they have occurred, mobilizing resources based on requests coming from outside the police organization, and focusing on the particulars of a given criminal incident. (Weisburd & Majmundar, 2018, p. 1)

Weisburd and Majmundar (2018) then offer a conceptual table that classifies proactive policing into four types: place-based, which seeks to prevent crime in micro-geographic places (such as hotspots policing and predictive policing); problem-solving, which aims to identify and resolve recurring problems (including policing initiatives such as problem-oriented and third party partnership policing); person-focused, which prevents and deters

crimes committed by known offenders (such as a focussed deterrence and repeat offender programs); and community-based, which aims to foster community collaboration with police (such as community-oriented policing and broken windows policing). This conceptualization gives police leaders a knowledge framework to explore how much of their resources are dedicated to these types of proactive activities. Yet it is silent on how police leaders should balance their reactive activities of policing.

An earlier place-based classification of interventions by Weisburd and Eck (2004) offers an alternative conceptualization of police tactical and strategic initiatives that is adapted and instructive for this report. Table 1 presents an adaptation of the Weisburd and Eck (2004) framework.

Table 1: Conceptual Model of Policing

DIVERSITY OF APPROACHES	POLICING ACTIVITIES	
Wide Array Of Partners	Community-wide Partnerships	Partnership & Problem- oriented policing
Mostly Law Enforcement	Standard Model Low Level of Focus	Repeat Offenders Hot Spots High Level of Focus

Source: Adapted from Weisburd and Eck, 2004

As this table shows, policing activities can be conceptualized across two dimensions: level of focus (low to high) and diversity of approaches (mostly law enforcement to wide array of partners and approaches). The standard model of policing falls in the lower left quadrant, including policing interventions that are solely delivered by police that lack a focus on the power few people, places and victims. Equipped with the knowledge that the standard model of policing is not effective in preventing or controlling crime problems, police leaders need to have the knowledge and skills to calculate how much of their resources are being allocated to these types of activities, why and where they are relying on standard model approaches, and what they would need to do to lead their agencies (or organizational units) into pivoting towards interventions that are in the other three quadrants.

This conceptual model is also helpful for police leaders to consider how much of their resources are being allocated to activities that involve partners and other agencies, such as those that fall into the two upper quadrants. With an increasingly complex world, police leaders will need to be better equipped with the skills to work with partners and therefore shift resources and develop training of police to be effective in their work to prevent, control and respond to complex crime problems. The dependencies of police on external partners emerges as a significant theme in this report (see Section 7).

4.0 A FOCUS ON HIGH RISK PEOPLE/GROUPS

This section examines what the police need to know and the skills they need to develop in responding to high risk people and groups. Drawing on high quality evaluation evidence, I identify the basic curriculum components for recruit and middle management education and training in order to increase the effectiveness of frontline policing to reduce crime and uphold

rule of law. I focus on interventions that target high risk offenders, young offenders, domestic violence perpetrators, drug offenders and organized crime groups. The range of approaches covered is not meant to be exhaustive of all approaches used by police to target high risk people or groups. Rather, it is a selection of approaches that offer some insight into how criminological theories (such as deterrence theory, see Nagin, 2013) need to be understood to rationalize different policing approaches, the way material should be presented in recruit and middle management training curriculum, and what type of data would need collected to maximize the intervention effectiveness.

Note: I do not cover training in relation to police use of force because this is a topic for another chapter of this NAS report that asks: What policies and practices for police use of force are effective in promoting the rule of law and protecting the population (including officers themselves)? What is known about effective practices for implementing those policies and practices in recruitment, training, and internal affairs?

4.1 High Risk People/Groups Curriculum Scope

To address high risk people, police education should cover focused deterrence (Braga, 2008; Braga & Dusseault, 2018) and repeat offender programs (ROP) (Abrahamse et al., 1991; Martin & Sherman, 1986). The proactive case management approach of ROP (or high-risk offender units) is a worthwhile component to be included in detective training. This would require shifting the current emphasis of detective training on the "craft" of reactive investigations following an incident (Bacon, 2016; Gottschalk et al., 2009) to using a range of existing detectives skills to proactively identify, guide decision-making and then target high risk offenders. Police training in focused deterrence will need to build the skills and capacity of police to work in partnership with other law enforcement agencies, particularly in the planning stages of focused deterrence. Police will also need to learn how to foster and sustain partnerships with social services and community resources (Mazerolle, 2014). Critical to implementing focused deterrence programs will be creating the capacity in policing to communicate with high risk offenders/groups who are the target of the intervention in an effective and procedurally just manner.

Police education needs to be very careful in the way content is communicated for two specific types of interventions that target high risk people: targeted bail checks (Yeong, 2021) and sting operations (Newman, 2007). Given the short-term benefits of sting operations and the potential to run counter to the rule of law, police training needs to build in some checks and balances around the skills development around sting interventions. Similarly, police education needs to emphasize the potential negative backfire effects of targeted bail checks, such as an increase in the risk of imprisonment for young people and people of color (Yeong, 2021). As such, training in bail check interventions must cultivate the skills in police so that they approach bail checks with great caution and in a procedurally just manner, especially when targeting young people and people of color.

When targeting young offenders, police training should include a module on diversion of young people (see Wilson et al., 2018) to build the skills necessary so that police optimize diversion opportunities to reduce youth offending. This needs to be coupled with a sound education to develop a shared understanding of why diversion makes good crime prevention sense, drawing from research, such as that presented by Moffitt (2003), to reduce reoffending of young people by steering youth away from being "snared" in the criminal justice system. Police training in the application of diversion programs for adult drug offenders (Hayhurst et al., 2019; Payne et al., 2008) underpins more generally how the concepts of "net widening"

(Decker, 1985) and "snares" in the criminal justice system need to be well understood by police. Therefore, to better situate the practice in criminological theory, police education on diversion (both adult and young people) should focus on the broader individual and societal benefits of diversion.

Police education needs to be explicit about some types of interventions—like youth curfews (Wilson et al., 2016)—that do not work to equip police with knowledge to stop wastage of scarce police resources. At the same time, where the police are required to enforce curfew laws, police training needs to include the development of skills in procedural justice policing (see Antrobus et al., 2019). Another popular intervention addressing youth crime is School Resource Officers (SROs) (Na & Gottfredson, 2013), yet Homer and Fisher (2020) find Black students are more likely arrested by SROs than White and Hispanic students. As an alternative to SRO programs, Mazerolle, Bennett and colleagues (2019) and Homer and Fisher (2020) show some promise in reducing youth offending in programs where police are trained to work in partnership with schools to implement family treatment groups in combination with case management. These types of programs benefit the students involved and also their families (Homer & Fisher, 2020; Mazerolle, Bennett et al., 2019) and should be a central part of police training to address youth crime issues. The training, however, requires the development of some special skills: police need to develop the skills to work cooperatively with other entities and they need to develop good communication skills.

One controversial practice that should be part of the education and training curriculum of police—yet not promoted as an effective approach—is the class of police powers that enable police to stop and search (or stop, question, frisk: SQF). Not only are they controversial from an effectiveness perspective (MacDonald et al., 2016; Meares, 2014; Weisburd & Majmundar, 2018; White et al., 2016) but they also have the potential for intrusiveness, harassment, police abuse, and racial disparity (Miller et al., 2008; Tiratelli et al., 2018). Police education on the basic principles of the rule of law needs to use the stop and frisk tactic in the curriculum to build knowledge of fair policing. Training programs need to include a module in the curriculum that develops the skills in police officers so they implement very clear boundaries and procedurally fair practices around the proactive use of stops by police. At the core of this training must be the presentation of a wide range of scenarios around what probable cause looks like in the field. Given the capacity of stops to undermine citizen perceptions of police legitimacy, and snare young people and people of color into the criminal justice system, training around when, why, how, where and to whom the stops are fairly applied must be central in all police training.

Another controversial practice are police raids: a type of search involving forcible entry that may or may not involve a no-knock warrant (Council on Criminal Justice, 2021; Sherman et al., 1995). Given the limited benefits of raids (Phillips et al., 2016), coupled with the fear that raids cause in the community, police training needs to include in the curriculum skill development to ensure the execution of fair and legal search warrants. Similarly, surveillance in policing is one of the most important areas for police training such that it is administered in accordance with the rule of law and in such a way that the evidence gathered during surveillance is admissible in criminal cases.

Police training is needed that specifically builds skills around targeting high risk Domestic and Family Violence (DFV) offenders. While police training must be aligned with the laws of a jurisdiction pertaining to DFV, the training curriculum needs to be clear about the harms to victims that can be caused through mandatory arrest of DFV offenders (Sherman & Berk,

1984; Sherman & Harris, 2015; Xie & Lynch, 2017). Police will also need training in the law and application of protection orders (known variously as restraining orders, apprehended violence orders and family violence orders) and the fact that "protection orders are associated with a small but significant overall reduction in severe domestic violence re-victimisation ... [yet they are less effective in cases of] less severe and non-physical forms of revictimisation" (Dowling, Morgan, Hulme et al., 2018, p. 13). Florence Neyroud's (2018) systematic narrative review of 31 studies to explore the level of suicidal ideation within perpetrators of domestic homicide, mass shooting and suicide terrorism provides some insights that might be instructive in police curriculums to help police be more targeted in their DV risk assessments and monitoring of protection orders. Neyroud (2018) found that suicide ideation is three times more prevalent in domestic homicide perpetrators than the general population and previous suicide attempts are seven times higher in domestic violence perpetrators than in the general population (Neyroud, 2018, pp. 55–56). As such, police training should be implemented so that police have the skills to administer validated risk assessments (see for example Turner et al., 2019) and also apply a screening set of questions at the same time as protection orders are processed in order to help police better monitor the "power few" (Sherman, 2007) who are most at risk for harming their partner or families.

The mixed results of proactive arrests for high risk drug offenders (Eggins, Hine, Higginson et al., 2020) suggest that police need training to limit this type of tactic, because there appears no clear benefit of the tactic, at least with the available evidence pertaining to drug offenders. By contrast, it is worth training officers to have the necessary skills to target, investigate and conduct drug seizures. With seizures targeting high risk places (rather than high risk people), it may be possible to reduce the harms to retail/street drug users. With the increase in drug availability in regional and rural areas (see Schalkoff et al., 2020), this type of place targeting of seizures with the intent of reducing the harms to retail users should form a part of skills training.

In building the education and skills necessary to target high risk organizations and groups (such as drug distribution, human trafficking, money laundering, terrorism, gun markets and child exploitation) police need to be trained in working with and utilizing the highly technical skills (such as forensic accounting, cyber and information technology expertise) available in multi-agency partnerships (see Mazerolle et al., 2021). Mazerolle and colleague's (2021) review found that it is important for police to take time to build trust and shared goals among partners, not overburden staff with administrative tasks, build in targeted and strong privacy provisions for intelligence sharing, and provide access to ongoing support and training for multi-agency partners. As such, police training curricula need to develop skills in techniques of setting up and running multi-agency partnerships and building the capacities to understand and structure privacy provisions around sharing of intelligence data.

4.2 Evidence on Training Police to Respond to High Risk People/Groups

Bennett (2020) identified 15 studies (7 RCTs and 8 quasi-experimental studies) that were impact evaluations of training for police tactical responses to high risk offenders, including active shooter training and training in crime scene investigations. Some of the studies included in Bennett's (2020) review demonstrate the importance of recruit training using virtual and simulated conditions to help foster skills and confidence in responding to dangerous situations.

Bennett (2020) identified an additional two RCTs within the Global Policing Database that examined the effectiveness of general training (as opposed to tactical training) for police

responding to high risk people (apart from DFV perpetrators). The first study by Jacquin et al. (2008) involved police participants randomly allocated to receive educational material on serial sexual killers or serial arsonists. The second study by Jacquin et al. (2008) trained all participants in general offender profiling and then trained half in inductive reasoning and half in deductive reasoning approaches. Jacquin et al. (2008) concluded that the inductive training program enhanced the profiling skills of participants, but only regarding physical characteristics. The deductive training program did not impact profile accuracy.

When looking specifically at the efficacy of training police in responding to domestic violence perpetrators, Smithey, Green, and Giacomazzi (2004) compared officers with no specific training to those who received training under the Duluth Domestic Abuse Intervention Project Training Model for Law Enforcement Response and assessed the impact of the training model on the time spent at DFV incidents with victims, the number of cases accepted for prosecution, and the number of cases resulting in convictions. They concluded that there was no significant effect of the training on these outcome measures: trained and untrained officers all spent an average of 30 minutes at incidents and the rate of case acceptance and conviction was the same between trained and untrained officers (Smithey et al., 2004).

4.3 Data to Assess Effectiveness in Police Responding to High Risk People/Groups

In Part 2 of this report I described the types of information that are needed to understand offending patterns and identify those people who are at high risk of being dangerous and persistent offenders. I reported that the types of information needed by police to help identify high-risk offenders would include factors such as age of first offence, early neurodevelopmental, and family adversity risk factors. Forecasting models, such as the one described by Berk and his colleagues (2009), use statistical learning techniques to predict future seriousness. The models presented by Berk and colleagues (2009) specifically focused on forecasting the likelihood of probation and parolees being "charged with homicide or attempted homicide within 2 years of beginning community supervision" (2009, p. 191). These models could incorporate other risk factors (such as early neurodevelopmental and family adversity risk factors) to predict other types of offending.

Similarly, Berk and Sorenson (2020) report research aimed at using stochastic gradient boosting, a genetic algorithm inspired by natural selection, and agglomerative clustering method to learn about the attributes of very-high-risk intimate partner violence (IPV) perpetrators and the circumstances associated with their IPV incidents reported to the police. Forging partnerships with university-based statisticians, and conducting specialized recruiting and/or training in police departments of analysts who have the level of statistical expertise to conduct this level of sophisticated forecasting, will be essential for any modern police agency in their efforts to deploy scare police resources to target those offenders likely to generate most harm.

In terms of data needed specifically for high risk domestic violence perpetrators, the Israeli Spouse Violence Risk Assessment Inventory (SVRA-I) offers some insights into the types of data that would be needed to identify high risk DFV perpetrators (Dayan et al., 2013). The tool comprises 45 risk signs for DFV perpetrators, classified as assault, threats, weapons, perpetrator symptoms, and perpetrator behavior toward the victim, which correctly predicted that perpetrators in the critical/high risk group were significantly more likely to reoffend than those classified as moderate (Dayan et al., 2013). Neyroud's (2018) review, which identified suicide ideation as a significant predictor for domestic homicides (as well as mass shootings

and suicide terrorism) could be added to risk assessment tools such as the SVRA-I. One way to operationalize data collection about suicide ideation among domestic violence perpetrators would be to require a series of suicide ideation screening questions as part of the risk assessment process for setting up protection orders. Using the power few approach (Sherman, 2007), those domestic violence perpetrators with protection orders and scoring high on suicide ideation would receive heightened levels of monitoring by police.

Another source of routine data collection and analysis, particularly for domestic violence perpetrators, could come from body worn cameras (BWCs). While Lum and her colleagues (2020) found in their systematic review of police BWCs that "the use of BWCs does not have consistent or significant effects on officers' use of force, arrest activities, proactive or self-initiated activities, or other measured behaviors" (2020, p. 2), they may provide useful data for the collection of evidence to assist in targeting high risk domestic violence perpetrators, with the goal to better protect victims of domestic violence.

5.0 A FOCUS ON CRIME-PRONE PLACES

This section presents the basic components of recruit and middle management training that need to be included to increase the effectiveness of frontline policing to reduce crime in high risk places. Rather than reiterate the scope of highly effective place-oriented interventions that have been previously described in the NAS proactive policing report (Weisburd & Majmundar, 2018), I focus this section of the lessons that should be drawn about education and training for policing that is focused on places. I examine the types of training and data needed for police to focus on high risk micro-geographic places, disengaged communities, places that attract mass gatherings and protests as well as policing online communities.

I note that this NAS report will include a dedicated chapter focusing on: *What policing practices build community trust and legitimacy in countries with low-to-moderate criminal justice sector capacity*? As such, I will not provide an extensive section in this report on the topic of Legitimacy Policing but rather emphasize the extensive body of research, and importance of training police in the wide range of related topics such as implicit bias (Fridell & Lim, 2016) and procedural justice (Mazerolle et al., 2013; Tyler, 2003), at all levels of the organization.

5.1 High Risk Places Curriculum Scope

Weisburd and Majmundar (2018) describe proactive tactics that are typically focused on micro places (but also at times on problem communities, problem people and high-risk victims). These include tactics such as hotspots policing, problem-oriented policing, third party policing, intelligence-led policing, broken windows policing, civil remedies, and predictive policing. These are all interventions that require a high degree of sophistication in crime analysis in order to identify and predict geospatial areas with an increased probability of criminal activity (Meijer & Wessels, 2019). Previously, I have mentioned the importance of training of crime analysts in policing. There is already an enormous number of outstanding crime analysis training materials (for example, Boba, 2001) and training programs and university courses established across the world. It would be beneficial, however, to develop a national (and perhaps international) certification for programs to ensure quality training, create capacities within police agencies to fund officers to be certified properly as crime analysts, and support existing professional networks of crime analysis to facilitate crime analysis as a valued career path in all police agencies.

Ratcliffe (2016) also makes some important points about intelligence-led policing (ILP), explaining that ILP is not a tactic but rather "a leadership model that allows police commanders to understand crime problems and offending patterns in a more strategic manner, and thus make more informed decisions to combat criminality" (2016, p. 157). This suggests that police leadership training needs to include a focus on ILP at the strategic rather than tactical level.

Entertainment precincts is a term used in the United Kingdom and across Australia to describe geographically defined areas that attract large numbers of people at particular times to drink, dance, and to watch professional sports and/or performing arts. Eggins, Hine, Dunne and colleagues (2020) conducted a rapid review that examined policing approaches in entertainment precincts, specifically focusing on reducing alcohol-related harms. From that review I suggest that police training for those officers responsible for geographic areas that include entertainment precincts should include the following elements: methods for interacting with intoxicated and violent civilians, methods for diffusing fights, methods for de-escalation of volatile incidents, and effective approaches to building positive working relationships with business owners.

When targeting high risk places, a central part of police work is working in partnership with other agencies to regulate, control and prevent crime (Mazerolle & Ransley, 2006). Police need training, therefore, in ways to foster good working relationships with property owners, building inspectors, environmental regulators, education department representatives, community groups, insurance companies, business leaders, and local government personnel.

A large part of police organizations and police work is in road policing focusing on high risk accident places. Road policing includes a number of approaches and the adoption of different types of technologies. The range of interventions that police need training in include Random Breath Testing (RBT for alcohol), Random Drug Testing, seat belt crackdowns, sobriety stops, speed enforcement, crackdowns to reduce hooning, red light cameras to target running of red lights and roadblocks to address problems such as gun violence. Mazerolle, Eggins and colleagues (2019) review of road policing from the GPD identified 138 eligible studies (including 12 RCTs, 9 systematic reviews and 117 robust quasi-experimental evaluations of different road policing initiatives. They concluded that "regardless of whether or not an individual is arrested, police traffic stops can reduce the likelihood of future alcohol impaired driving behaviours. Increasing targeted police patrols has a generally beneficial impact on traffic fatalities and alcohol-related crashes" (Mazerolle, Eggins et al., 2019, p. 3). Bates and her colleagues (2012) also concluded that automated methods tend to be effective in localized, site-specific and targeted police interventions. Targeting interventions to the micro places during the high-risk times that generate the most road trauma (as measured by death and serious injury) requires leadership and middle management education and training in the power few and the law of crime concentration. As with many of the place-oriented training modules, police will need training in developing the expertise in crime analysis to provide the necessary information for resource allocation in high harm places and at high harm times.

The frequency and potential volatility of protests and mass gatherings require effective police training to develop the skills and techniques necessary for police to work with organizers and respond appropriately. The Police Executive Research Forum (PERF) (2018) report describes the range of highly place-focused gatherings that would fall into this area of police training curricula, including planned rallies, spontaneous crowds, civil disturbances, peaceful demonstrations, political protests arising from international or national summits and

conferences, sports events, rock concerts, festivals, as well as large-scale celebratory gatherings. In the US, PERF (2018) argue that police training should include a module on the policing implications of the First Amendment so that police are equipped with the knowledge to understand the constitutional protections afforded to peaceful demonstrators, including the rights to free speech and peaceful assembly, "the differences between constitutionally protected activity and criminal acts; rules for maintaining officers' displayed name or badge number when wearing civil disturbance gear; agency policies on the use of hard protective gear and equipment vs. soft gear during mass demonstrations." (PERF, 2018, p. 29). They note that some agencies have existing training programs delivered in partnership with civil liberties groups (PERF, 2018), where the goal is to create and sustain positive police community relations (Gorringe et al., 2012). Indeed, Gorringe and colleagues (2012) suggest police training in crowd control should include the Elaborated Social Identity Model (ESIM), which teaches skills in avoiding indiscriminate use of force, in meeting the legitimate aims of crowd members, and in using regular and positive communication. The theme of multiagency cooperation and joint training also emerges in relation to crowd control. For example, the PERF (2018) report suggests that police "training together can help agencies achieve a coordinated response with all agencies in agreement about tactics and rules of engagement. Interagency training can also serve as a training of trainers and allow agencies with advanced skills (in areas such as mobile field force) to share their knowledge" (2018, p. 34).

When we think about police training to target high risk places (including micro geographic places and communities), it is also incumbent on police to consider the problematic online communities, such as those communities that are set up to transmit child exploitation material (CEM), and the wide range of cyber scams. Eggins and her colleagues' (2021) systematic review of policing online CEM finds that "the evidence suggests that training in the area of CEM can have a variable impact on police arrest and investigative practices, and a positive impact on police practitioners' knowledge of national and international legislation. Other promising approaches include having a specialised policing taskforce to increase CEM arrests and investigations, strategically using polygraph to increase offender disclosures, and using automated software to identify CEM" (Eggins et al., 2021, p. 12; see also Davidson et al., 2020).

5.2 Evidence on Training Police in Responding to High Risk Places

Bennett's (2020) rapid review of training programs drawn from the Global Policing Database identified one experiment on a training program of police that sought to increase the capacity of police to undertake geographic profiling. Bennell et al. (2007) examined whether police officers can predict the location of serial offenders based on the number of crimes and topographical detail. The training intervention was implemented in the United Kingdom, focusing on building skills in the decay heuristic to predict the home location of serial offenders to their crimes. The authors concluded that the experimental participants made significant improvements in their predictive accuracy when trained in geographic profiling techniques (Bennell et al., 2007).

Bennett (2020) also identified four studies (one RCT and three quasi-experimental studies) that evaluated police training around community engagement. The RCT, reported in two documents (Graziano, 2007; Graziano et al., 2014), assessed the impact of the Chicago Internet Project (CIP), which conducted training to facilitate a police–community partnership via monthly meetings to encourage problem-solving activities. The results showed that more citizens and police from the beats in the training experimental condition were more likely to

communicate ideas for solutions to community problems than those in the experimental condition (Graziano et al., 2014).

There have also been several robust evaluations of procedural justice training programs (see also this NAS report chapter dedicated to legitimacy policing), including Skogan et al. (2015), who evaluated a large organizational change strategy. They found that the training increased officer affirmation of the four principles of procedural justice (Skogan et al., 2015). Rosenbaum and Lawrence (2017) evaluated the effectiveness of the Quality Interaction Program on recruits' behaviors (including respectfulness towards community members, procedural justice during traffic stops, communication) during simulated policing scenarios and found that the training was effective, especially for interactions with young people. Similarly, Wheller and his colleagues' (2013) evaluation of the Greater Manchester procedural justice training experiment found that officers in the experimental group had better attitudes to delivering quality of service, had more empathy and rapport with victims, and understood the importance of fair decision making (p. 24). Ian Thompson's (2016) experimental evaluation of the impact of procedural justice training on first year constables found that those officers who received the training were assessed as more procedurally just in the field under observation than those who did not receive the training. Platz and her colleagues (2017) conducted an experimental evaluation of a training program that sought to assess the impact of a values education program on recruit attitudes toward police workplace diversity and equality. They found that the program served as a buffer against an academy culture that eroded support of diversity over time (Platz et al., 2017).

Managing protests is an area of police training where Herold (2021) has identified very little evaluation evidence, pointing out some deficits in mass demonstration management and police use of force practices published earlier by the Police Executive Research Forum (2014). Yet training is central for protecting public safety during crowd events. The primer by the US Department of Justice (2013) suggests that the best way to start building the necessary skills is to educate staff on the expected roles, responsibilities, and performance when participating in these types of events, followed by simulated exercises that "allow personnel from various agencies to test the efficacy of the operational plan, to build collaborative relationships, and to ensure that personnel are aware of their roles and responsibilities" (US Department of Justice, 2013, p. 81).

5.3 Data to Assess Effectiveness in Police Responding to High Risk Places

Ratcliffe argues that there is a need for evaluation skills being developed in police agencies so that police have the skills necessary to assess the value of interventions not just targeting high risk places, but all types of police interventions. He states:

a high level of analytical dexterity is necessary to conduct robust and rigorous quantitative evaluations of crime reduction operations, using skills that are more commonly found in academic departments than police departments. These methods are usually taught in advanced postgraduate classes in criminal justice and criminology (if taught at all), and they require specialised software. Thus, while everyone agrees that the ability to do advanced types of evaluation analysis should be vested within police agencies, the practicality of getting that skill level into departments remains a challenge. This is a challenge to which the police service must rise, and academia must assist. (Ratcliffe, 2016, p. 174)

6.0 A FOCUS ON PROTECTING VICTIMS

This section examines what the police need to know about protecting highly vulnerable victims. It draws on high quality evaluation evidence that should shape the basic curricula of recruit and middle management training in order to increase the effectiveness of frontline policing to reduce repeat victimization and uphold the rule of law. I focus on evidence that will inform police education and training to better respond to domestic violence, sexual assault, child, elderly people, people with disabilities and those with mental health illnesses.

6.1 Protecting Victims Curriculum Scope

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021) estimates that approximately 1 in 4 women and 1 in 7 men will experience physical violence by the intimate partner at some point in their lifetimes (see also Devries et al., 2013). Therefore, the police hold a critical role in protecting victims of domestic violence. Dowling, Morgan, Boyd and Voce's (2018) systematic review of policing domestic violence found little evidence on the relative effectiveness of specific types of training or different training practices in domestic violence. The evidence that does exist seems to suggest that specialized training in domestic violence helps to improve officers' empathy with victims, understanding of the severity of domestic violence, and recognition of the need for police to ensure victims' safety (Dowling, Morgan, Boyd, & Voce, 2018). However, Eileen Luna-Firebaugh (2002) found evidence of a gradual reversion to pre-training attitudes over time, suggesting that the positive influences of training wears off without reinforcement.

One of the police interventions that should be part of police training to protect victims of domestic violence includes the second responder model. This is victim-focused approach where a police officer and/or victim advocate (such as a social worker) makes face-to-face contact with victims soon after an initial police response to a DFV-related incident (Davis et al., 2008). Evidence suggests that victims are most open to help and crime prevention strategies immediately following victimization (Davis et al., 2008). The United Kingdom has also trialled second responder programs (see Koppensteiner et al., 2017), finding that the intervention led to a significant increase in victim satisfaction with police services and a greater willingness to report future incidents to police.

Police working as a partner in multi-agency responses is again a theme in best practice approaches, this time directed toward protecting victims of DFV. One such partnership includes the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACs) that aim to reduce harm to high-risk domestic violence victims (Robinson, 2006). Representatives from various agencies contribute information during the MARACs, producing a positive, measurable impact in victims' lives (Robinson, 2006). Similarly, Breckenridge and colleagues (2016) evaluated integrated responses to DFV, identifying some common benefits such as "a broader range of services that are offered beyond the initial crisis period, improvement of the professional knowledge base and service provider relationships, facilitation of responsive and prompt decision-making, increased cross-program or agency collaboration on case management, and provision of multiple entry points for clients to access support" (2016, p. 3). In Section 7 I identify police training in multi-agency partnerships as an important, cross-cutting theme that is needed in police training curricula.

Child victims are a high priority area for police in their efforts to protect vulnerable people. Education in understanding the negative life consequences for children who are harmed is a fundamental part of what I have described in Section 2 of this report. Police need the grounding in criminological theories, and one high priority area for education is in preventing harm to children and the potential for intergenerational transmission of crime. Eggins, Mazerolle and colleagues (2020) in their rapid review of criminal justice responses to child abuse found that "collaboration between child victim advocates, law enforcement and multi-disciplinary teams in child sexual abuse investigations may benefit case outcomes by increasing the satisfaction in non-offending caregivers of victims and the likelihood of successfully prosecuting child sex offenders" (2020, p. 28). Again, the dominant theme of cross-agency collaboration demands attention in police training to be focused on the processes and practices of working across agencies.

Another skill that cuts across many aspects of policing is interviewing. Martine Powell (2013) offers a range of insights into police interview training concluding that "good questioning comes from specialised training programs incorporating ongoing spaced practice exercises, exemplars of best practice, expert instruction and feedback" (2013, p. 713). These skills are central for police to develop because research finds that effective interviewing of victims can "increase the volume of information a complainant provides and has the potential to increase the credibility of this evidence" (Bull, 2014, p.1). This is particularly the case for sexual assault victims (Westera et al., 2019).

Livingston (2016) conducted a systematic review to estimate the rates of police contacts with people mental disorders, including calls for service and arrests. He identified 85 studies, finding that one in four people with a mental disorder has a history of police arrest and that one in 100 police dispatches to calls for service involves people with mental disorders (Livingston, 2016). With this high prevalence of police contact with people with mental disorders, it is critical that police receive training in being able to recognize and assess people that they encounter who may be experiencing some type of mental disorder. Kane, Evans and Shokraneh (2018) conducted a systematic review to explore commonly used mental health interventions in policing including Crisis Intervention Teams (CIT), which included mental health specialist staff working alongside police, liaison and diversion strategies, and street triage. They found that a mix of outcomes for liaison and diversion strategies, quick and appropriate responses from street triage teams, and wide variability in the application of CIT, with generally favorable results. Kane and his colleagues (2018) concluded that there is a clear need for greater training of evidence based practices that work to support police in their efforts to better understand and respond to people with mental illnesses that they encounter in the field.

Similar issues are relevant for policing people with disabilities. Morgan (2021) in her article about policing under disability law, asserts that disabled people have disproportionately high level of exposure to police violence (2021, p. 9) and are more likely to be the target of zero tolerance policing interventions (2021, p. 21). Alyssa Wright (2018) examined Californian police training practices, regulations, and officer experiences in dealing with people with disabilities, reporting that just six hours were spent on disability and mental health-related training. Lew and her colleagues (2014) describe how these six hours of instruction cover topics such as understanding and identifying various types of disabilities, learning state and federal disability laws, and involuntary commitment processes. Wright (2018) argues that training police to better serve people with disabilities needs to include up-to-date definitions and terminology, cultural sensitivity training, effective methods of de-escalation and problem-solving, as well as regular refresher courses.

In developing police training programs to better respond to elderly people as potential victims, Rachel Tuffin and her colleagues (2006) describe how the UK National Reassurance Policing Programme (NRPP) could reduce perceptions of antisocial behaviour and increase public confidence in policing and feelings of safety. While the NRPP was designed for all people in the community, it was particularly well suited for elderly victims or elderly people who felt vulnerable in their community.

6.2 Evidence on Training Police to Protect High Risk Victims

Bennett (2020) identified a total of 17 studies (reported in 18 documents) as eligible impact evaluations of training for police interactions with people with mental health problems. In one study, Taheri's (2016) meta-analysis showed that CIT trained officers transported more mentally ill persons to community-based services rather than arresting them compared to untrained officers. Similarly, Scantlebury and colleagues (2017) found that the training program had a positive effect on how the police perceived and recorded incidents involving people displaying mental health problems. Teagardin (2011) and colleagues (2012) found that police trained in being able to recognize persons with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) had more confidence interacting with persons with ASD.

Bennett (2020) identified three RCTs that tested training regimes in investigative interviewing: trained officers were more likely to conduct interviews in line with the training than untrained officers (Hartwig et al., 2006), trained interviewers used one or more of the tactics learnt in training (Sooniste et al., 2017) and trained police were more effective at increasing the use of open-ended questions than untrained police (Powell et al., 2008).

In the area of domestic and family violence, Huisman, Martinez and Wilson's (2005) case study of a domestic violence training program notes that the non-police trainers were to some extent perceived by police as lacking credibility. Bennett (2020) concludes that there is a significant gap in the experimental policing research regarding RCTs around training police officers to respond to domestic and family violence and sexual crimes. The quasi-experimental studies included in Bennett's (2020) rapid review of police training found that the interventions evaluated were focused on training around interacting with victims of sexual assault and rape (including children) and outcomes relating to police behaviors and knowledge, as well as perceptions of victims and sexual crimes. Given the amount of harm that can be experienced by vulnerable people, like child victims, victims of sexual assault and victims of domestic abuse, robust evaluations of police training programs in these areas should be a high priority investment by police agencies.

6.3 Data to Assess Effectiveness in Police Protecting Vulnerable People

Data linkage and communication across government agencies and service providers are critical for police to be able to identify those people who have multiple contacts with different services and are likely to be people most at risk of victimization. Yet, despite huge advances in data gathering and information systems, there remains a reluctance to link administrative data or to create systems that are fully integrated and capable of identifying multiple touch points of people coming into contact with police and other agencies, such as child protection, housing, disability services and health. Fusion centers have been in action for many years and used to share information around homeland security issues. Yet similar efforts have not been the norm for sharing data about our most vulnerable people in society. A related data need is for developing more robust and accurate case tracking systems, particularly for vulnerable people.

7.0 CONCLUDING REMARKS

This report has focused on the content of police education and training curricula to create the core knowledge and skills needed to promote the rule of law and effectively protect the population. I began this report by arguing that a fundamental basis to police education is for police to learn how to target resources to identify and respond to high risk people and groups, problematic places, and victims who are most at risk. I highlighted some data needs that would facilitate police better responding to high risk people, places and vulnerable victims and I identified different studies that have evaluated police training programs using robust evaluation methods. I also offered a framework for categorizing different approaches to policing to teach police leaders how to consider resource allocations. I note the dearth of evidence generated from low and middle income countries that inform my summation of training content and data needs. This is a key concern and creates important challenges for translating the ideal content of training into countries that are grappling with the very basics of lawful enforcement. Overall, I offer five concluding remarks.

First, I began the report with plea for basic criminological theory to underpin all recruit and middle management education, drawing from a shared conceptual model of policing interventions that would guide leaders to more strategically allocate their scarce resources. I find it quite remarkable that police education is largely devoid of using criminological theory to explain why different policing interventions are used and why they might (or might work) to better respond to crime problems. Criminological theory helps police to understand the mechanisms that create crime problems and offers insight into how interventions might disrupt the conditions that create crime opportunities. Educating the next generation of police, therefore, needs to foster intellectual curiosity that comes, I argue, from a fundamental understanding of theories that help to explain the where, why, how, who and what of crime problems. The importance of theory underpinning police training is relevant not just for developed countries, but also those low and middle income countries.

Second, several cross-cutting themes have emerged as being universally important for police education and training. These include crime analysis, working in multi-agency teams, and foundational communication skills. I have argued that recruiting people with sound analytic skills, training police and civilian staff members in sophisticated methods to identify the "power few" and partnering with academics with specialist skills in data analysis (including identifying data deficits and data cleaning) and evaluation methods, forecasting and predictive modeling will create the necessary capacity to address crime problems and police resource allocation decisions into the future. I also identified the range of different problems—such as terrorist groups, human trafficking networks, DFV victims, victims with mental health problems or disabilities—that are best targeted using multi-agency teams. Rather than assume that police have the knowledge and skills to work well in these teams, training in techniques for working in complex teams is needed and will likely lead to more effective outcomes. Similarly, good communication skills underpin virtually all police activities. Some of these communication skills are taught in existing training modules (such as procedural justice training and specialist hostage negotiation training) but would be well served as foundational at all levels of police training. The quality of the teaching and training staff is an obvious starting point to ensure the delivery of curriculum as intended. This requires careful consideration of training and education staff recruitment and the promotion structures within the organization to both retain quality staff and bring in outside experts where needed.

Third, I have purposely not ventured into describing the suite of laws that police need to learn and be constantly updated on. These laws differ across jurisdictions and across different types of political systems in the world. My argument has been focused on context and the manner that the laws are applied to accomplish effective police practice. As agents that enforce laws, police will at times be called upon to enforce laws that, when applied by police, do not work to control crime or, at worst, can cause harm. I have noted some of these interventions in this report such as targeted bail checks, raids, mandatory arrest for domestic violence and SQF. We know that when some police powers are used, they fail to accomplish the goals of reducing harms. Yet if police understand the evidence about what works (and what doesn't), if they have a sound understanding of criminological theory and the mechanisms that cause crime problems, then police have a better chance of using their discretion and police powers in ways that are fair and effective.

Fourth, I noted the small number of robust evaluations that have been conducted to test the efficacy of training programs. Bennett's (2020) review of 105 eligible evaluation studies in the Global Policing Database comprised just 29 RCTs, two systematic reviews and/or metaanalyses, and 74 robust quasi-experiments, with none in this corpus of studies from Latin America. Given the extensive cost of training, it is curious as to why so few training programs have been evaluated using robust methods.

Finally, if policing is going to move into a profession that values evidence as the foundation that guides police policy, practice and training, it is incumbent upon police to regularly refresh curricula and to ensure that police educators and trainers are equipped with the latest scientific discoveries. What might be the foundations for education and training in 2021 might change or be refined over time. Science does not sit still, and nor should the education and training of police in the future.

8.0 REFERENCES

- Abrahamse, A. F., Ebener, P. A., Greenwood, P. W., Fitzgerald, N., & Kosin, T. E. (1991). An experimental evaluation of the Phoenix repeat offender program. *Justice Quarterly*, 8(2), 141–168.
- Antrobus, E., Thompson, I., & Ariel, B. (2019). Procedural justice training for police recruits: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 15(1), 29–53.
- Bacon, M. (2016). *Taking care of business: Police detectives, drug law enforcement and proactive investigation*. Oxford University Press.
- Bates, L., Soole, D., & Watson, B. (2012). The effectiveness of traffic policing in reducing traffic crashes. In T. Prenzler (Ed.), *Policing & security in practice* (pp. 90–109). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bennell, C., Snook, B., Taylor, P. J., Corey, S., & Keyton, J. (2007). It's no riddle, choose the middle: The effect of number of crimes and topographical detail on police officer predictions of serial burglars' home locations. *Criminal Justice & Behaviour*, 34(1), 119–132.
- Bennett, S. (with Hine, L., Daley, K., Eggins, E., Hassall, G., Roetman, S., & Bevis, K.) (2020). Police training interventions for behaviours, skills and knowledge: A rapid review of the evaluation literature. Unpublished manuscript. University of Queensland.
- Berk, R., Sherman, L., Barnes, G., Kurtz, E., & Ahlman, L. (2009). Forecasting murder within a population of probationers and parolees: A high stakes application of statistical learning. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)*, 172(1), 191–211.
- Berk, R. A., & Sorenson, S. B. (2020). Algorithmic approach to forecasting rare violent events: An illustration based in intimate partner violence perpetration. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 19(1), 213–233.
- Blumstein, A., Cohen, J., Roth, J. A., & Visher, C. A. (Eds.). (1986). *Criminal careers and "career criminals."* National Academy Press.
- Boba, R. (2001). *Introductory guide to crime analysis and mapping*. Community Oriented Policing Services.
- Braga, A. A. (2008). Pulling levers focused deterrence strategies and the prevention of gun homicide. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 36(4), 332–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2008.06.009
- Braga, A. A., & Dusseault, D. (2018). Can homicide detectives improve homicide clearance rates? *Crime & Delinquency*, 64(3), 283–315.
- Breckenridge, J., Rees, S., Valentine, K., & Murray, S. (2016). *Meta-evaluation of existing interagency partnerships, collaboration, coordination and/or integrated interventions and service responses to violence against women: Final report.* ANROWS Horizons.

Bull, R. (Ed.). (2014). Investigative interviewing. Springer Science & Business Media.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021). *Preventing intimate partner violence*. Retrieved 10 May, 2021

https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/fastfact.html

- Cohen, L. E., & Felson, M. (1979). Social change and crime rate trends: A routine activity approach. *American Sociological Review*, 44(4), 588–608.
- Council on Criminal Justice. (2021). *No-knock warrants and police raids*. Taskforce on Policing.
- Davidson, J., Schimmenti, A., Caretti, V., Puccia, A., Corbari, E., Bogaerts, S., Schilder, J. D., Scally, M., Bifulco, A., & DeMarco, J. N. (2020). Exploring policing and industry practice in the prevention of online child sexual abuse. In I. Bryce & W. Petherick (Eds.), *Child sexual abuse* (pp. 657–677). Academic Press.
- Davis, R. C., Weisburd, D., & Taylor, B. (2008). Effects of second responder programs on repeat incidents of domestic violence: A systematic review. *Campbell Collaboration Library of Systematic Reviews*, 15. doi:10.4073/csr.2008.15
- Dayan, K., Fox, S., & Morag, M. (2013). Validation of spouse violence risk assessment inventory for police purposes. *Journal of Family Violence*, 28(8), 811–821.
- Decker, S. H. (1985). A systematic analysis of diversion: Net widening and beyond. *Journal* of Criminal Justice, 13(3), 207–216.
- DeLisi, M. (2005). Career criminals in society. Sage Publications.
- Devries, K. M., Mak, J. Y., Garcia-Moreno, C., Petzold, M., Child, J. C., Falder, G., ... & Watts, C. H. (2013). The global prevalence of intimate partner violence against women. *Science*, 340(6140), 1527–1528.
- Dowling, C., Morgan, A., Boyd, C., & Voce, I. (2018). *Policing domestic violence: A review* of the evidence. Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Dowling, C., Morgan, A., Hulme, S., Manning, M., & Wong, G. (2018). Protection orders for domestic violence: A systematic review. *Trends & Issues in Crime & Criminal Justice*, (551), 1–19.
- Eck, J., Chainey, S., Cameron, J., & Wilson, R. (2005). Mapping crime: Understanding hotspots. US Department Of Justice Office of Justice Programs. <u>https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/mapping-crime-understanding-hot-spots</u>
- Eggins, E., Hine, L., Dunne, R., Anderson, L., Hassall, G., McEwan. J., ... Mazerolle, L. (2020). *Reducing alcohol-related harm the night-time economy*. Unpublished manuscript. The University of Queensland.
- Eggins, E., Hine, L., Higginson, A., & Mazerolle, L. (2020). The impact of arrest and seizure on drug crime and harms: A systematic review. *Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice*, *No.* 602.
- Eggins, E., Mazerolle, L., Higginson, A., Hine, L., Walsh, K., Sydes, M., ... Williams, J. (2021). Criminal justice responses to child sexual abuse material offending: A systematic review and evidence and gap map. *Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice, No. 623*.
- Eggins, E., Mazerolle, L., Hine, L., McEwan, J., Hassall, G., Roetman, S., & Roetman, S. (2020). *Policing child sex offenders and offending: A rapid review of the evaluation literature*. Unpublished manuscript.
- Farrell, G. (1995). Preventing repeat victimization. Crime & Justice, 19, 469–534.
- Farrell, G., & Pease, K. (1993). Once bitten, twice bitten: Repeat victimisation and its implications for crime prevention (Vol. 46). Home Office Police Research Group.

Farrington, D. P. (1986). Age and crime. *Crime & Justice*, 7, 189–250. https://doi.org/10.1086/449114

- Farrington, D. P., Jolliffe, D., Loeber, R., Stouthamer-Loeber, M., & Kalb, L. M. (2001). The concentration of offenders in families, and family criminality in the prediction of boys' delinquency. *Journal of Adolescence*, 24(5), 579–596. https://doi.org/10.1006/jado.2001.0424
- Fridell, L., & Lim, H. (2016). Assessing the racial aspects of police force using the implicitand counter-bias perspectives. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 44, 36–48.
- Gorringe, H., Stott, C., & Rosie, M. (2012). Dialogue police, decision making, and the management of public order during protest crowd events. *Journal of Investigative Psychology & Offender Profiling*, 9(2), 111–125.
- Gottschalk, P., Holgersson, S., & Karlsen, J. (2009). How knowledge organizations work: the case of detectives. *The Learning Organization*, *16*(2), 88–102.
- Graziano, L. M. (2007). Information technology and community policing: The impact of Internet feedback on police and community (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global Database. (UMI No. 3274128)
- Graziano, L. M., Rosenbaum, D. P., & Schuck, A. M. (2014). Building group capacity for problem solving and police–community partnerships through survey feedback and training: A randomized control trial within Chicago's community policing program. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *10*(1), 79-103. <u>https://doi.org.10.1007/s11292-012-9171-y</u>
- Hand, D. J. (2018). Statistical challenges of administrative and transaction data. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)*, 181(3), 555-605.
- Hartwig, M., Granhag, P. A., Strömwall, L. A., & Kronkvist, O. (2006). Strategic use of evidence during police interviews: When training to detect deception works. *Law & Human Behaviour*, 30(5), 603–619. https://doi.org.10.1007/s10979-006-9053-9
- Herold, T. (2021). *Research evaluation of the Columbus Police Department response to the 2020 Summer Protests in the City of Columbus, Ohio.* Unpublished manuscript.
- Hindelang, M., Hirschi, T., & Weis, J. (1981). Measuring delinquency. Sage.
- Homer, E. M., & Fisher, B. W. (2020). Police in schools and student arrest rates across the United States: Examining differences by race, ethnicity, and gender. *Journal of School Violence*, 19(2), 192–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2019.1604377
- Huisman, K., Martinez, J., & Wilson, C. (2005). Training police officers on domestic violence and racism: Challenges and strategies. *Violence Against Women*, 11(6), 792– 821.
- Jacquin, K. M., Yonge, K. C., & Richardson, R. (2008). Training enhances psychological profile accuracy for sexual homicide. Paper presented at the 116th Annual American Psychological Association Convention, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Hayhurst, K. P., Leitner, M., Davies, L., Millar, T., Jones, A., Flentje, R., ... & Shaw, J. (2019). The effectiveness of diversion programmes for offenders using Class A drugs: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drugs: Education, Prevention & Policy*, 26(2), 113–124.

- Kane, E., Evans, E., & Shokraneh, F. (2018). Effectiveness of current policing-related mental health interventions: A systematic review. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 28(2), 108–119.
- Kennedy, D. M. (1997). Pulling levers: Chronic offenders, high-crime settings, and a theory of prevention. *Valparaiso University Law Review*, *31*(2), 449–484.
- Koppensteiner, M. F., Matheson, J., & Plugor, R. (2017). Project 360: An intervention to address victim-police engagement in repeat domestic violence cases. Economics Discussion Paper (No. 17/08).
- Lee, Y., Eck, J. E., O, S-H., & Martinez, N. N. (2017). How concentrated is crime at places? A systematic review from 1970 to 2015. *Crime Science*, 6(1), 1–16. https://doi.org.10.1186/s40163-017-0069-x
- Lew, P., Pham, J., & Morrison, L. (2014). An ounce of prevention: Law enforcement training and mental health crisis intervention. Rep. no. CM51.01. N.p.: Disability Rights California.
- Livingston, J. D. (2016). Contact between police and people with mental disorders: A review of rates. *Psychiatric services*, 67(8), 850–857.
- Lum, C., Koper, C. S., Wilson, D. B., Stoltz, M., Goodier, M., Eggins, E., Higginson, A & Mazerolle, L. (2020). Body-worn cameras' effects on police officers and citizen behavior: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 16(3).
- Luna-Firebaugh, E. M. (2002). Women in tribal policing: An examination of their status and experiences. *The Social Science Journal*, *39*(4), 583-592.
- MacDonald, J., Fagan, J., & Geller, A. (2016). The effects of local police surges on crime and arrests in New York City. *PLoS One*, 11(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157223
- MacDonald, Z. (2002). Official crime statistics: their use and interpretation. *The Economic Journal*, *112*(477), 85–106.
- Martin, S. E., & Sherman, L. W. (1986). Selective apprehension: A police strategy for repeat offenders. *Criminology*, 24(1), 155–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745–9125.1986.tb00381.x</u>
- Martinez, N. N., Lee, Y., Eck, J. E., & SooHyun, O. (2017). Ravenous wolves revisited: A systematic review of offending concentration. *Crime Science*, *6*(1), 1–16.
- Matthies, C. & Chiu, T. (2014). Putting a value on crime analysts: Considerations for law enforcement executives. Vera Institute of Justice.
- https://bja.ojp.gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh186/files/Publications/Vera-CrimeAnalysts.pdf Mazerolle, L. (2014). The power of policing partnerships: Sustaining the gains. *Journal of*
 - Experimental Criminology, 10(3), 341–365.
- Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Antrobus, E., Cardwell, S. M., Eggins, E., & Piquero, A. R. (2019). Disrupting the pathway from truancy to delinquency: A randomized field trial test of the longitudinal impact of a school engagement program. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, 35(4), 663–689.
- Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Davis, J., Sargeant, E., & Manning, M. (2013). Legitimacy in policing: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 9(1), 1–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2013.1</u>
- Mazerolle, L., Cherney, A., Eggins, E., Higginson, A., Hine, L., & Belton, E. (2021). Multiagency programmes with police as a partner for reducing radicalisation to

violence. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*. Vol 17, Issue 2. https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1162

- Mazerolle, L., Eggins, E., Bennett, S., Roetman, S., Hine, L., McEwan, J., Hassall, G., & Hockey, A. (2019). Road policing and level of centralisation. A rapid review of the evaluation literature: Final report. The University of Queensland.
- Mazerolle, L., Eggins, E., & Higginson, A. (2020). Street-level drug law enforcement: An updated systematic review. *Trends & Issues in Crime & Criminal Justice* no. 599. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Mazerolle, L., & Ransley, J. (2006). Third party policing. Cambridge University Press.
- Meares, T. L. (2014). The law and social science of stop and frisk. *Annual Review of Law and Social Science*, *10*, 335–352. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-lawsocsci-102612-134043
- Meijer, A., & Wessels, M. (2019). Predictive policing: Review of benefits and drawbacks. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 42(12), 1031–1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2019.1575664</u>
- Miller, J., Gounev, P., Pap, A. L., Wagman, D., Balogi, A., Bezlov, T.... Vargha, L. (2008).
 Racism and police stops: Adapting US and British debates to continental Europe.
 European Journal of Criminology, 5(2), 161–191.
 https://doi:10.1177/1477370807087641
- Moffitt, T. E. (2003). Life–course persistent and adolescence-limited antisocial behavior. *Causes of conduct disorder and juvenile delinquency*, 49–75.
- Moffitt, T. E. (2015). Life-course-persistent versus adolescence-limited antisocial behaviour. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.) *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, disorder, and adaptation* (pp. 570–589). John Wiley & Sons.
- Morgan J. (2021) Policing Under Disability Law. Stanford Law Review, 73.
- Na, C., & Gottfredson, D. C. (2013). Police officers in schools: Effects on school crime and the processing of offending behaviours. *Justice Quarterly*, 30(4), 619–650. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2011.615754</u>
- Nagin, D. S. (2013). Deterrence in the twenty-first century. *Crime and justice*, 42(1), 199–263.
- National Research Council. (2012). *Education for life and work: Developing transferable knowledge and skills in the 21st century*. National Academies Press.
- Newman, G. R. (2007). *Sting Operations*. Washington DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.
- Neyroud, F. (2018). A Narrative Review of Suicidal Ideation as a Predictor of Domestic Homicide, Mass Shootings and Suicide Terrorism. William Harvey Research Institute, Barts and the London School of Medicine and Dentistry.
- Payne, J., Kwiatkowski, M., & Wundersitz, J. (2008). *Police drug diversion: A study of criminal offending outcomes*. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Phillips, S. W., Wheeler, A., & Kim, D. Y. (2016). The effect of police paramilitary unit raids on crime at micro-places in Buffalo, New York. *International Journal of Police Science & Management*, 18(3), 206–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1461355716660568</u>

- Platz, D., Sargeant, E., & Strang, H. (2017). Effects of recruit training on police attitudes towards diversity: a randomised controlled trial of a values education Programme. *Cambridge Journal of Evidence-Based Policing*, 1(4), 263–279.
- Police Executive Research Forum. (2018). *The police response to mass demonstrations: Promising practices and lessons learned*. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.
- Powell, M. B. (2013). An overview of current initiatives to improve child witness interviews about sexual abuse. *Current Issues in Criminal Justice*, 25(2), 711–720. https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2013.12035992
- Powell, M. B., Fisher, R. P., & Hughes-Scholes, C. H. (2008). The effect of intra-versus postinterview feedback during simulated practice interviews about child abuse. *Child*
- Ratcliffe, J. H. (2002). Aoristic signatures and the spatio-temporal analysis of high volume crime patterns. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *18*(1), 23–43.
- Ratcliffe, J. H. (2016). Intelligence-led policing. Routledge.
- Robinson, A. L. (2006). Reducing repeat victimization among high-risk victims of domestic violence: The benefits of a coordinated community response in Cardiff, Wales. *Violence Against Women*, 12(8), 761–788. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801206291477
- Rosenbaum, D., & Lawrence, P. (2017). Teaching procedural justice and communication skills during police–community encounters: Results of a randomized control trial with police recruits. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *13*(3), 293–319. https://doi.org.10.1007/s11292-017-9293-3
- Sampson, R. J., Raudenbush, S. W., & Earls, F. (1997). Neighborhoods and violent crime: A multilevel study of collective efficacy. *science*, 277(5328), 918–924.
- Scantlebury, A., Fairhurst, C., Booth, A., McDaid, C., Moran, N., Parker, A., ... & Hewitt, C. (2017). Effectiveness of a training program for police officers who come into contact with people with mental health problems: A pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *PloS One*, 12(9), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org.10.1371/journal.pone.0184377</u>
- Schalkoff, C. A., Lancaster, K. E., Gaynes, B. N., Wang, V., Pence, B. W., Miller, W. C., & Go, V. F. (2020). The opioid and related drug epidemics in rural Appalachia: A systematic review of populations affected, risk factors, and infectious diseases. *Substance abuse*, 41(1), 35–69.
- Sherman, L. W. (2007). The power few: experimental criminology and the reduction of harm. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *3*(4), 299–321.
- Sherman, L. W., & Berk, R. A. (1984). The specific deterrent effects of arrest for domestic assault. *American sociological review*, 261–272.
- Sherman, L. W., & Harris, H. M. (2015). Increased death rates of domestic violence victims from arresting vs. warning suspects in the Milwaukee Domestic Violence Experiment (MilDVE). *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 11(1), 1–20. doi: 10.1007/s11292-014-9203-x
- Sherman, L. W., Rogan, D. P., Edwards, T., Whipple, R., Shreve, D., Witcher, D., ... & Bridgeforth, C. A. (1995). Deterrent effects of police raids on crack houses: A randomized, controlled experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 12(4), 755–781.

- Skogan, W. G., Van Craen, M., & Hennessy, C. (2015). Training police for procedural justice. Journal of Experimental Criminology, 11(3), 319–334. doi:10.1007/s11292-014-9223-6
- Smithey, M., Green, S. E., & Giacomazzi, A. L. (2000). Collaborative effort and the effectiveness of law enforcement training toward resolving domestic violence. *Final report for National Institute of Justice, grant*, (97-WE).
- Sooniste, T., Granhag, P. A., & Strömwall, L. A. (2017). Training police investigators to interview to detect false intentions. *Journal of Police & Criminal Psychology*, 32(2), 152-162. https://doi.org.10.1007/s11896-016-9206-9
- Taheri, S. A. (2016). Do crisis intervention teams reduce arrests and improve officer safety? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 27(1), 76–96. https://doi.org.10.1177/0887403414556289
- Teagardin, J. M. (2011). Law enforcement officers' understanding of Autism Spectrum Disorders (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global Database. (UMI No. 3493842)
- Teagardin, J., Dixon, D. R., Smith, M. N., & Granpeesheh, D. (2012). Randomized trial of law enforcement training on autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(3), 1113–1118. <u>https://doi.org.10.1016/j.rasd.2012.02.002</u>
- Thompson, I. (2016). *The impact of procedural justice training on first year constables' interactions with citizens: a randomized controlled trial.* Cambridge University Masters Thesis.
- Thornberry, T. P., & Krohn, M. (2003) Comparison of self-report and official data for measuring crime. In J. V. Pepper & C. V. Petrie (Eds.), *Measuring problems in criminal justice research* (pp.43–94). National Research Council.
- Tiratelli, M., Quinton, P., & Bradford, B. (2018). Does stop and search deter crime? Evidence from ten years of London-wide data. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 58(5), 1212–1231. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azx085
- Towers, S., Chen, S., Malik, A., & Ebert, D. (2018). Factors influencing temporal patterns in crime in a large American city: A predictive analytics perspective. *PLoS one*, *13*(10), 1-27.
- Townsley, M., Homel, R., & Chaseling, J. (2000). Repeat burglary victimisation: Spatial and temporal patterns. *Australian & New Zealand journal of criminology*, *33*(1), 37-63.
- Tuffin, R., Morris, J., & Poole, A. (2006). An evaluation of the impact of the National Reassurance Policing Programme (Vol. 296). London: Home Office Research, Development and Statistics Directorate.
- Turner, E, Medina, J., & Brown, G. (2019). Dashing hopes? The predictive accuracy of domestic abuse risk assessment by police. *British Journal of Criminology*, 59(5), 1013–1034, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azy074</u>
- Tyler, T. R. (2003). Procedural justice, legitimacy, and the effective rule of law. *Crime and Justice*, *30*, 283–357.
- US Department of Justice. (2013). Managing large-scale security: A planning primer for local law enforcement. Washington DC: Bureau of Justice Assistance.
- Weisburd, D. (2015). The law of crime concentration and the criminology of place. *Criminology*, *53*(2), 133–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12070

- Weisburd, D., & Eck, J. E. (2004). What can police do to reduce crime, disorder and fear? *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 593(1), 42– 65. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716203262548
- Weisburd, D., & Majmundar, M. K. (Eds.). (2018). *Proactive policing: Effects on crime and communities*. The National Academy of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine.
- Weisburd, D., White, C., & Wooditch, A. (2020). Does collective efficacy matter at the micro geographic level?: Findings from a study of street segments. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 60(4), 873–891.
- West, D. J., & Farrington, D. P. (1977). The delinquent way of life. Heinemann
- Westera, N. J., Powell, M. B., Milne, B., & Goodman-Delahunty, J. (2019). Police interviewing of sexual assault victims: Current organizational responses and recommendations for improvement. In R. Bull & I. Blandon-Gitlin (Eds.), *Handbook* of legal and investigative psychology (pp.182–196). Routledge.
- Wheller, L., Quinton, P., Fildes, A., & Mills, A. (2013). *The Greater Manchester Police* procedural justice training experiment. College of Policing.
- White M., Fradella H., & Morrow, W. (2016) Crime control benefits and collateral consequences. In M. White & H. F. Fradella (Eds.), *Stop and frisk: The use and abuse* of a controversial policing tactic (pp. 81–116). NYU Press. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1bj4rd9.7</u>
- Wilson, D. B., Brennan, I., & Olaghere, A. (2018). Police-initiated diversion for youth to prevent future delinquent behaviour: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 14(1), 1–88. https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2018.5
- Wilson, D. B., Gill, C., Olaghere, A., & McClure, D. (2016). Juvenile curfew effects on criminal behaviour and victimization: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 12(1), 1–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2016.3</u>
- Wolfgang, M. E., Figlio, R. M., & Sellin, T. (1972). Delinquency in a birth cohort. University of Chicago Press
- Wright, A. (2018). Police interactions with individuals with developmental disabilities: Use of force, training, and implicit bias. Stanford Law School. <u>https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Alyssa-Wright-Police-Interactions-with-Individuals-with-Developmental-Disabilities-1.pdf</u>
- Xie, M., & Lynch J. P. (2017). The effects of arrest, reporting to the police, and victim services on intimate partner violence. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 54(3), 338–378. doi: 10.1177/0022427816678035
- Yeong, S. (2021). *An evaluation of the Suspect Target Management Plan (revised)*. NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research.